# Public Document Pack



DISTRICT COUNCIL NORTH OXFORDSHIRE

- Committee: The Standards Committee
- Date: Wednesday 31 January 2024

Time: 6.30 pm

Venue Bodicote House, Bodicote, Banbury, OX15 4AA

#### Membership

# Councillor George Reynolds<br/>(Chairman)Councillor Lynn Pratt (Vice-Chairman)Councillor Sandy Dallimore<br/>Councillor Julian Nedelcu<br/>Councillor Dorothy WalkerCouncillor Lynne Parsons<br/>Councillor Amanda Watkins

# AGENDA

#### 1. Apologies for Absence and Notification of Substitute Members

#### 2. Declarations of Interest

Members are asked to declare any interest and the nature of that interest which they may have in any of the items under consideration at this meeting.

#### 3. Urgent Business

The Chairman to advise whether they have agreed to any item of urgent business being admitted to the agenda.

#### 4. **Minutes** (Pages 5 - 12)

To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 17 March 2022, 18 May 2022 and 23 May 2023.

#### 5. Chairman's Announcments

To receive communications from the Chairman.

# 6. Arrangements for Dealing with Complaints of Alleged Breaches of the Councillors' Code (Pages 13 - 30)

Report of the Monitoring Officer

#### **Purpose of report**

To enable the Committee to note the arrangements for dealing with complaints of alleged breaches of the Councillors' Code of under delegated authority.

#### Recommendations

1. Note the arrangements for dealing with complaints of alleged breaches of the Councillors Code of Conduct at Appendix 1.

# Councillors are requested to collect any post from their pigeon hole in the Members Room at the end of the meeting.

#### Information about this Meeting

#### **Apologies for Absence**

Apologies for absence should be notified to <u>democracy@cherwell-dc.gov.uk</u> or 01295 221534 prior to the start of the meeting.

#### **Declarations of Interest**

Members are asked to declare interests at item 2 on the agenda or if arriving after the start of the meeting, at the start of the relevant agenda item. The definition of personal and prejudicial interests is set out in the constitution.

# Local Government and Finance Act 1992 – Budget Setting, Contracts & Supplementary Estimates

Members are reminded that any member who is two months in arrears with Council Tax must declare the fact and may speak but not vote on any decision which involves budget setting, extending or agreeing contracts or incurring expenditure not provided for in the agreed budget for a given year and could affect calculations on the level of Council Tax.

#### **Evacuation Procedure**

When the continuous alarm sounds you must evacuate the building by the nearest available fire exit. Members and visitors should proceed to the car park as directed by Democratic Services staff and await further instructions.

#### Access to Meetings

If you have any special requirements (such as a large print version of these papers or special access facilities) please contact the officer named below, giving as much notice as possible before the meeting.

#### **Mobile Phones**

Please ensure that any device is switched to silent operation or switched off.

#### Webcasting and Broadcasting Notice

The meeting will be recorded by the council for live and/or subsequent broadcast on the council's website. The whole of the meeting will be recorded, except when confidential or

exempt items are being considered. The webcast will be retained on the website for 6 months.

If you make a representation to the meeting, you will be deemed by the council to have consented to being recorded. By entering the Council Chamber, you are consenting to being recorded and to the possible use of those images for and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes.

The council is obliged, by law, to allow members of the public to take photographs, film, audio-record, and report on proceedings. The council will only seek to prevent this should it be undertaken in a disruptive or otherwise inappropriate manner.

#### Shiraz Sheikh Monitoring Officer

Published on Tuesday 23 January 2024

This page is intentionally left blank

# Agenda Item 4

#### **Cherwell District Council**

#### The Standards Committee

Minutes of a meeting of the Standards Committee held at Bodicote House, Bodicote, Banbury, OX15 4AA, on 17 March 2022 at 5.00 pm

Present:

Councillor John Donaldson (Vice-Chairman) Councillor Mark Cherry Councillor George Reynolds Councillor Bryn Williams Councillor Lucinda Wing

Substitute Members:

Councillor Andrew Beere (In place of Councillor Perran Moon) Councillor Dorothy Walker (In place of Councillor Ian Middleton)

Also Present Virtually:

Tom Edwards – Independent Person

Apologies for absence:

Councillor Simon Holland Councillor Ian Middleton Councillor Perran Moon

Officers:

Lesley Farrell, Democratic and Elections Officer

Officers Present Virtually:

Shahin Ismail – Interim Monitoring Officer Natasha Clark - Governance and Elections Manager

#### 10 **Declarations of Interest**

There were no declarations of interest.

#### 11 Requests to Address the Meeting

There were no requests to address the meeting.

#### 12 Urgent Business

There were no items of urgent business.

#### 13 Minutes

The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 11 October 2021 were confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

#### 14 Chairman's Announcements

There were no Chairman's announcements

#### 15 Adoption of Revised Councillors' Code of Conduct

The Interim Monitoring Officer submitted a report which introduced a proposed revised Councillors' Code of Conduct for the Committee to recommend to Full Council, and to agree adoption and implementation from May 2022.

All Oxfordshire local authorities were currently covered by a single, jointlyagreed Code of Conduct which ensured that councillors who were members of multiple authorities within the area were covered by a single code, providing clarity and consistency. The same Members' Code of Conduct had been adopted by the majority of parish councils in the Cherwell District.

The revised Code of Conduct would be presented to the County Council and all District Councils in Oxfordshire, and, if adopted, would be recommended to all Oxfordshire Parishes.

In response to questions from the Committee, the Interim Monitoring Officer explained that training would be rolled out across the County and members of multiple authorities would attend one training session which would be coordinated across the County.

All Councillors would undertake training within 6 months of the adoption of the revised Code of Conduct and all Councillors (newly or re-elected) would undertake Code of Conduct training within 6 months of their election and would also undertake a refresher at least once during their term of office.

#### Resolved

- (1) That Full Council be recommended to adopt the revised Councillors' Code of Conduct.
- (2) That Full Council be recommended to agree that:
  - Subject to the adoption of the revised Code of Conduct, it be mandatory for all Councillors to complete Code of Conduct

training within 6 months of the adoption of the revised code (i.e. by mid-November).

- It be mandatory for all Councillors to undertake Code of Conduct training within 6 months of their election (newly or re-elected) and attend a refresher at least once during their term of office.
- (3) That Full Council be recommended to endorse the revised Councillors' Code of Conduct for adoption by Town and Parish Councils in the Cherwell District.

#### 16 Standards Arrangements - Appointment of Independent Person

The Interim Monitoring Officer submitted a report which considered the arrangements for the appointment of an Independent Person in light of the resignation of a current Independent Person.

The Committee considered it appropriate to thank Graham Matthews for his service to Cherwell District Council as an Independent Person.

A Member of the Committee who was on the interview panel suggested that the third choice of candidate be approached in the first instance regarding the vacancy.

#### Resolved

- (1) That authority be delegated to the Interim Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Chairman of the Standards Committee, to liaise with the candidates who applied for the Independent Person vacancy in the autumn of 2021 and agree a preferred candidate to recommend to Council to be appointed for a term expiring on the date of December Council meeting in 2025.
- (2) That Mr Graham Matthews be thanked for his service and diligence as an Independent Person for Cherwell District Council

The meeting ended at 5.35 pm

Chairman:

Date:

This page is intentionally left blank

#### **Cherwell District Council**

#### The Standards Committee

Minutes of a meeting of the Standards Committee held at Bodicote House, Bodicote, Banbury, OX15 4AA, on 18 May 2022 at 7.59 pm

Present:

Councillor Simon Holland (Chairman) Councillor John Donaldson (Vice-Chairman) Councillor Hannah Banfield Councillor John Broad Councillor Patrick Clarke Councillor Ian Middleton Councillor George Reynolds Councillor Amanda Watkins

#### 1 Appointment of Chairman for the municipal year 2022/2023

#### Resolved

(1) That Councillor Simon Holland be appointed Chairman of the Standards Committee for the municipal year 2022/2023.

#### 2 Appointment of Vice-Chairman for the municipal year 2022/2023

#### Resolved

(2) That Councillor John Donaldson be appointed Vice-Chairman of the Standards Committee for the municipal year 2022/2023.

The meeting ended at 8.00 pm

Chairman:

Date:

This page is intentionally left blank

#### **Cherwell District Council**

#### The Standards Committee

Minutes of a meeting of the Standards Committee held at Bodicote House, Bodicote, Banbury, OX15 4AA, on 23 May 2023 at 7.08 pm

Present:

Councillor George Reynolds (Chairman) Councillor Lynn Pratt (Vice-Chairman) Councillor Sandy Dallimore Councillor Harry Knight Councillor Lynne Parsons Councillor Amanda Watkins

Apologies for absence:

Councillor Julian Nedelcu Councillor Dorothy Walker

#### Appointment of Chairman for the municipal year 2023/204

It was proposed by Councill Dallimore and seconded by Councillor Pratt that Councillor Reynolds be elected Chairman of the Standards Committee.

There were no further nominations.

#### Resolved

(1) That Councillor Reynolds be elected Chairman of the Standards Committee for the municipal year 2023/2024.

#### 2 Appointment of Vice-Chairman for the municipal year 2023/204

It was proposed by Councill Dallimore and seconded by Councillor Reynolds that Councillor Pratt be elected Vice-Chairman of the Standards Committee.

There were no further nominations.

#### Resolved

(1) That Councillor Pratt be elected Vice-Chairman of the Standards Committee for the municipal year 2023/2024.

1

The meeting ended at 7.09 pm

Chairman:

Date:

This report is public					
Arrangements for Dealing with Complaints of Alleged Breaches of the Councillors' Code of Conduct					
Committee	Standards Committee				
Date of Committee	31 January 2024				
Report of	Monitoring Officer				

#### Purpose of report

To enable the Committee to note the arrangements for dealing with complaints of alleged breaches of the Councillors' Code of under delegated authority.

#### 1. Recommendations

The Standards Committee is recommended to:

1.1 Note the arrangements for dealing with complaints of alleged breaches of the Councillors Code of Conduct at Appendix 1.

#### 2. Executive Summary

- 2.1 Under the Constitution the Monitoring Officer has delegated authority to establish arrangements for dealing with complaints of alleged breaches of the Councillors Code of Conduct.
- 2.2 The terms of reference of the Standards Committee contain the following responsibility.
  - The approval and administration of arrangements under which allegations of breach of the code of conduct for members and co-opted members can be investigated and decisions on such allegations can be made.
- 2.3 It is good practice to periodically review the arrangements for Code of Conduct matters to ensure that they remain fit for purpose. Accordingly, The Monitoring Officer has reviewed the arrangements. This report seeks for the Committee to note the report and the updated arrangements as shown in Appendix 1.

Implications	Commentary
Finance	Rachel Ainsworth 19/01/2024 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. However, having a consistent approach to dealing with complaints

#### **Implications & Impact Assessments**

	of Member misconduct ensures that any complaints received are dealt with in an efficient and cost effective way.				
Legal	Shiraz Sheikh, Monitoring Officer/Assistant Director of Law &				
	Governance, 15/01/2024				
	The Council has a duty under section 28 of the Localism Act 2011				
	to ensure that arrangements are in place under which allegations				
	relating to the Code of Conduct can be investigated and decisions				
				The Procedure for Member Code of Conduct	
				sures that this is complied with.	
Risk Management				eeling, Performance & Insight Team Leader,	
		1/202			
			e no d	lirect risk management implications arising from this	
	repo	ort.		Commentary	
Impost			d)	Commentary	
Impact Assessments	ve	a	Negative		
Assessments	ositive	utr	ga		
	Ро	Neutral	Se		
Equality Impact		х		Not applicable	
A Are there any		Х		Not applicable	
aspects of the					
proposed decision,					
including how it is					
delivered or					
accessed, that could					
impact on					
inequality?		v		Netennicable	
<b>B</b> Will the proposed decision have an		х		Not applicable	
impact upon the					
lives of people with					
protected					
characteristics,					
including employees					
and service users?					
Climate &		х		Not applicable	
Environmental		.			
Impact					
ICT & Digital		х		Not applicable	
Impact					
Data Impact		х		Not applicable	
Procurement &		х		Not applicable	
subsidy					
Council Priorities	Not applicable				
Human Resources	Not applicable				
Property	Not applicable				
		~~~~			
Consultation &	Con	stituti	on re	view working group	
Engagement					

# **Supporting Information**

#### 3. Background

3.1 Under Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011, the Council must have in place "arrangements" under which allegations that a member or co-opted member of the Council or of a parish council within the authority's area, or of a Committee or Sub-Committee of the Council, has failed to comply with that Council's Code of Conduct can be investigated and decisions made on such allegations.

#### 4. Details

- 4.2 Under the Constitution the Monitoring Officer has delegated authority to establish arrangements for dealing with complaints of alleged breaches of the Councillors Code of Conduct.
- 4.3 The terms of reference of the Standards Committee contain the following responsibility.
  - The approval and administration of arrangements under which allegations of breach of the code of conduct for members and co-opted members can be investigated and decisions on such allegations can be made.
- 4.4 It is good practice to periodically review the arrangements for Code of Conduct matters to ensure that they remain fit for purpose. Accordingly, The Monitoring Officer has reviewed the arrangements. This report seeks for the Committee to note the report and the updated arrangements as shown in Appendix 1.

## 5. Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection

5.1 The following alternative options have been identified and rejected for the reasons as set out below.

Option 1: Not to consider – Not an option in light of it being good practice to review such arrangements.

#### 6 Conclusion and Reasons for Recommendations

6.1 The Committee are recommended to note the updated arrangements for dealing with complaints of alleged breaches of the Councillors Code of Conduct at Appendix 1 which has been reviewed by the Monitoring Officer.

# **Decision Information**

Key Decision	Not applicable
Subject to Call in	Not applicable
If not, why not subject to call in	Not applicable
Ward(s) Affected	All

# **Document Information**

Appendices			
Appendix 1	Appendix 1 - Arrangements for Local Determination of Allegations of Alleged Breaches of the Councillors' Code of Conduct		
Background Papers	None		
Reference Papers	None		
Report Author	Matthew Swinford		
	Democratic and Elections Officer		
Report Author contact	matthew.swinford@cherwell-dc.gov.uk		
details	01295 221591		

# Arrangements for Local Determination of Allegations of Alleged Breaches of the Councillors' Code of Conduct

# The Localism Act 2011

## 1 Introduction

- 1.1 The arrangements referred to in this document sets out the process which will be followed in the local determination of allegations of misconduct made against either a District Councillor or Parish/Town Councillor, where Cherwell District Council is the responsible authority. The purpose of these arrangements is to ensure the Council makes every effort to deal with a complaint as smoothly as possible and ensure that complaints are dealt with within agreed timescales and with the relevant legislation. All allegations will be dealt with objectively, fairly and consistently. The Monitoring Officer will also have regard to what is in the public interest and the Council's fiduciary duty to the tax payers.
- 1.2 Arrangements for dealing with complaints against Councillors underwent significant changes following the introduction of the Localism Act 2011. Cherwell's current adopted code of conduct, which is a code agreed by all six Oxfordshire Local Authorities, was adopted at full Council on 18 May 2022.
- 1.3 All complaints are received by the Monitoring Officer who takes an initial decision on whether a complaint requires investigation, informal resolution by the Monitoring Officer, should be referred to the Police or whether no further action is required.
- 1.4 Within these arrangements, references to the 'Monitoring Officer' also refers to their duly appointed representative(s). It is likely that the Monitoring Officer will appoint an Investigating Officer, who may be another senior officer of the authority, an officer of another authority, or an external investigator.
- 1.5 The person making the complaint is referred to as 'the complainant' and the District/Town or Parish Councillor being complained about is referred to as 'the subject member'.

## 2 Process for Dealing with Complaints – Initial Assessment Stage

2.1 When the Monitoring Officer has received a formal and valid complaint, the complaint will be acknowledged within three working days of receipt.

- 2.2 All complaints must be submitted using the Council's online complaint form. If required, we can also provide a paper copy of the complaint form.
- 2.3 The Monitoring Officer also needs to ensure that the complaint complies with the Council's Assessment Criteria:
  - Is against one or more named Councillors of the authority, or of a Parish or Town Council the authority is responsible for;
  - the named Councillor was in office at the time of the alleged conduct;
  - the complaint relates to matters where the Councillor was acting as a Councillor or representative of the authority and it is not a private matter;
  - the complaint, if proven, would be a breach of the Code under which the Councillor was operating at the time of the alleged misconduct.
- 2.4 If the complaint fails one or more of these tests it cannot be investigated as a breach of the Code, and the Monitoring Officer must inform the complainant that no further action will be taken in respect of the complaint.
- 2.5 A complaint can also be rejected if:
  - the complainant fails to provide enough information to base a decision, for example it is not clear as to what part of the adopted code of conduct has allegedly been breached;
  - the subject member is no longer a Councillor of the authority (although if they are a member of another authority the Monitoring Officer could refer the complaint to that authority);
  - the complaint has been the subject of an investigation or other action relating to the Code of Conduct, or the complaint has been the subject of an investigation by other regulatory authorities;
  - the complaint is about something that happened so long ago that there would be little benefit in taking action now;
  - the complaint is too trivial to warrant further action;
  - the complaint appears to be simply malicious, politically motivated or tit-for-tat;
  - the complainant appears to be submitting persistent or prolific complaints
- 2.6 Following receipt of a complaint that meets the agreed Assessment Criteria the complainant will be asked if there is any additional information they wish to submit and they may also be asked to clarify any issues that they have raised.
- 2.7 A summarised copy of the complaint will be sent to the subject member for written comment (unless the complainant has asked to keep their identity confidential see Requests for Confidentiality). The subject member will also have the opportunity to submit any additional information that they feel will support their submission. This can include written witness statements.

- 2.8 Where a complaint relates to a Parish/Town Councillor, the Monitoring Officer may also inform the Parish/Town Council of the complaint and seek the views of the Parish/Town Council to take into account when making a decision in the Initial Assessment Stage.
- 2.9 Both the subject member and the complainant have the right to seek advice from one of the Council's Independent Persons. The Council has therefore appointed two Independent Persons to ensure that a conflict situation does not arise i.e. once they have been consulted, the Independent Person will not be involved in the decision making process.
- 2.10 The Monitoring Officer will also collate any additional information (e.g. minutes and agendas of meetings, information on websites, the applicable Code of Conduct, Standing Orders and any other relevant policies, background information including correspondence and witness statements) that will assist the Initial Assessment Stage.
- 2.11 As part of the Initial Assessment Stage, an Initial Assessment Panel meeting will usually take place within 20 working days of receipt of the complaint. The Monitoring Officer will consult the Independent Person at this meeting. As this is not a public meeting, neither the subject member nor the complainant, nor members of the press or public will have the opportunity to attend or speak at the meeting. In accordance with the Localism Act 2011, following the Initial Assessment the Monitoring Officer (in consultation with the Independent Person) is able to decide on one of the following four outcomes:
  - no further action will be taken on the complaint;
  - a form of informal resolution will be sought;
  - the matter will be referred to the Director of Public Prosecutions or the Police where it is suspected that some form of criminal conduct has occurred in relation to interests that have not been disclosed;
  - the complaint will be fully investigated by an Investigator Officer appointed by the Monitoring Officer
- 2.12 The complainant and subject member will be notified of the outcome of the Initial Assessment Panel meeting, usually within 25 working days from receipt of the complaint.

- 2.13 The Council may reach one of the three following decision on an allegations:
  - no further action will be taken on the complaint;
  - a form of informal resolution will be sought;
  - the matter will be referred to the Director of Public Prosecutions or the Police where it is suspected that some form of criminal conduct has occurred in relation to interests that have not been disclosed;
  - the complaint will be fully investigated by an Investigator Officer appointed by the Monitoring Officer.
- 2.14 If illegal activity is identified during the Initial Assessment, this is passed to the Police with any evidence received.
- 2.15 A flowchart summarising these arrangements that is followed when a complaint is received is attached at Appendix 1 to these arrangements.

# **3** Requests for Confidentiality

- 3.1 In the interests of fairness and in compliance with the rules of natural justice, District, Town and Parish Councillors who are complained about have a right to know who has made the complaint, and the substance of the allegation(s) made against them.
- 3.2 Complainants can request that their identity is not revealed to the subject member, and the Monitoring Officer may grant such requests at their discretion in exceptional circumstances. The Monitoring Officer is unlikely to withhold a complainant's personal details or the details of the complaint unless they consider there to be good reasons to believe that a complainant has justifiable grounds for anonymity/confidentiality.

- 3.3 When considering a request for confidentiality the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Independent Person, will consider any such request alongside the substance of the complaint itself and apply the following criteria:
  - the complainant has reasonable grounds for believing that they will be at risk of physical harm from, or that they may be victimised or harassed by the subject member(s) against whom they are submitting the complaint (or from or by a person associated with the subject member(s));
  - the complainant is an officer of a relevant authority who fears the consequences as regards their employment if their identity is revealed;
  - the complainant works closely with the subject member, and is therefore afraid of the consequences to their employment or of losing their job;
  - there is a medical risk to the complainant's health if their identity is revealed and this is supported by medical evidence;
  - the complainant has reasonable grounds for the belief that they may receive less favourable treatment from the Council because of the identity and/or seniority of the subject member(s) in terms of any existing Council service provision or any tender/contract that they may have or are about to submit to the Council; or
  - other exceptional circumstances
- 3.4 When considering a request for confidentiality against these criteria the Monitoring Officer will also:
  - balance the request for confidentiality against the substance of the complaint;
  - consider whether it is possible to investigate the complaint without making the complainant's identity known to the subject member, given the requirement for a proper investigation.
- 3.5 If the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Independent Person, decides to refuse a request for confidentiality, they may decide to offer the complainant the opportunity to withdraw their complaint. When deciding whether to allow a complaint to be withdrawn the Monitoring Officer must consider whether the public interest in proceeding with an investigation outweighs the complainant's wish to have their identity withheld from the subject member.

# 4 Outcome of Initial Assessment Stage – No Further Action

4.1 If following the Initial Assessment Panel meeting with the Independent Person, the Monitoring Officer decides that no further action is required in respect of a complaint, no further action can be taken by the Council and the matter will be closed.

4.2 The Localism Act 2011 does not provide any appeals mechanism. However the decision could be open to Judicial Review by the High Court should the complainant wish to take up this option. The complainant would be advised to seek independent legal advice about taking up this option.

# 5 Outcome of Initial Assessment Stage – Informal Resolution

- 5.1 If following the Initial Assessment Panel meeting with the Independent Person, the Monitoring Officer decides that other action should be taken on the complaint, the resolution, format and timescales for this action need to be outlined in the decision issued as a result of the Initial Assessment Notice.
- 5.2 If an informal resolution is determined as appropriate and either party declines to comply, this will be reported to the Monitoring Officer who may decide to treat the facts as a further complaint.
- 5.3 If the subject member complies with the action outlined in the decision, the Monitoring Officer will report the matter to the Standards Committee [and the Parish Council] for information but will take no further action.
- 5.4 The Localism Act 2011 does not provide any way to appeal a decision. However the decision could be open to Judicial Review by the High Court should either party wish to take up this option. The complainant or subject member would be advised to seek independent legal advice about taking up this option.

# 6 Outcome of Initial Assessment Stage – Report to the Police

- 6.1 If during the Initial Assessment the Monitoring Officer decides that the matter needs to be referred to the Police, both the subject member and complaint and if appropriate the relevant Town or Parish Clerk will be informed.
- 6.2 The Monitoring Officer will pass to the Police any relevant evidence relating to the allegations received, which disclose behaviour that may constitute a criminal offence, whether under the ethical standards provisions of the Localism Act or otherwise.
- 6.3 If potential criminal offences are identified and the complaint is referred for investigation with a view to prosecution, the appropriate procedures of the Police or Council will be followed so as to protect the integrity of the investigation.

# 7 Outcome of the Initial Assessment Stage – Investigation by Investigating Officer

- 7.1 If, following the Initial Assessment Stage, the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Independent Person, decides that if the allegations were substantiated, they may constitute a breach of the Code of Conduct of the relevant authority, they can refer the complaint for investigation.
- 7.2 The Monitoring Officer will appoint an Investigating Officer to undertake an investigation. The Investigating Officer may be another senior officer of the authority, an officer of another authority or an external investigator.
- 7.3 The Council will notify the complainant and the subject member that an investigator has been appointed to investigate the matter and advise which parts of the Code are being investigated against. This will also give the complainant and subject member details in case they need to contact the investigator to provide them with more information.
- 7.4 Any information received during the course of the investigation is confidential to the investigative process until the investigation is completed, unless there is a statutory requirement to disclose it. All parties involved will be advised of the confidential nature of the proceedings.
- 7.5 Once the investigation is concluded (no longer than six months from the original complaint being referred for an investigation) the investigator will be required to produce a draft written report that sets out their findings. The Monitoring Officer, subject member, the complainant and the Independent Person(s) will all be provided with an opportunity to comment on the initial report.
- 7.6 The subject member and the complainant will be sent the draft report and be asked to comment and advise if there are any areas of the report they dispute. All comments would need to be submitted within 10 working days of receipt of the draft report. The Council are not obliged to accept any comments made but where comments are not accepted, the Council should make a note explaining why.
- 7.7 On completion of the investigation, the Monitoring Officer may decide:
  - To take no further action;
  - To seek to resolve the matter informally; or
  - To refer the matter to a hearing of the standards committee.

- 7.8 The final report should be issued by the Monitoring Officer and must be sent to:
  - The subject member;
  - The complainant;
  - The relevant Independent Person;
  - The relevant Parish or Town council of which the subject member is a Councillor (if applicable).

## 8 Meeting of the Standards Committee

- 8.1 If the Investigating Officer concludes that there is evidence of a breach of the Code of Conduct, if a local resolution is not appropriate or the subject member is not prepared to undertake any proposed remedial action, the matter will be reported to the Standards Committee and a hearing will be called.
- 8.2 The meeting of the Standards Committee must be held within three months of completion of the investigators report. The Democratic and Elections Officer shall arrange a time and date for the Standards Committee to meet and consider the matter.
- 8.3 At least five working days before the date of the meeting of the Standards Committee, the Democratic and Elections Officer shall notify the subject member, complainant, the clerk of the relevant Town or Parish Council (if applicable), Legal Advisor and any relevant witnesses of the date, time and place of the meeting and the membership of the Standards Committee at which the matter will be considered.
- 8.4 At least five working days before the Standards Committee meeting date, the Democratic and Elections Officer will send to each member of the Standards Committee, the subject member, the complainant and the Monitoring Officer, a copy of the paperwork for the meeting. The paperwork will include the agenda for the Committee meeting, a copy of the Investigator's report and a copy of any written statement in response to the report which has been received from the subject member, complainant and Independent Person.
- 8.5 The Monitoring Officer may make the provision of any such copy conditional upon an appropriate undertaking of confidentiality until the report is made available to the press and public, or it is agreed that the press and public shall not be excluded from the meeting.

## 9 **Procedure at the Meeting of the Standards Committee**

9.1 Attendance of the Subject Member and Complainant

- (i) The subject member and complainant may arrange to be accompanied or represented by counsel, a solicitor or by any other person they may wish at the Hearing at their own expense. If this is the case, the subject member or complainant must notify the Monitoring Officer of their intention to do so at least three working days prior to the Hearing.
- (ii) If the complainant or subject member are not present at the start of the Committee meeting, the Committee will adjourn to enable time for them to attend, unless they are satisfied that there is sufficient reason for their failure to attend, in which case the Committee may resolve to continue the meeting in their absence. Where the Committee proceeds in their absence, the procedure for the meeting shall be adapted as necessary, giving any representative of the subject member or complainant who is present such rights as would otherwise be accorded to them.
- 9.2 Agenda of the Committee meeting

The agenda of the meeting will be as follows:

- (i) Elect a chair person to preside over the meeting if the Chairman or Vice-Chairman are not present;
- (ii) Report of any apologies from Members unable to attend the meeting;
- (iii) Approve the Minutes of the last meeting;
- (iv) Receive any declarations of interest from Members;
- (v) Consideration as to whether to adjourn or to proceed in the absence of the subject member or complainant;
- (vi) Introduction of all in attendance at the meeting
- (vii)

any representation from the Monitoring Officer, or his representative and/or the subject member as to reasons why the Committee should exclude the press and public and a determination as to whether to exclude the press and public. Where the Committee decides that it will not exclude press and public, the Clerk shall at this point provide copies of the agenda and reports to any members of the press and public who are present;

- (viii) Consideration of the complaints and its evidence in the order in which they have been received.
- 9.3 Speaking at the Meeting
  - (i) Presentation by the Monitoring Officer or Investigating Officer of the investigation report.
  - (ii) Questions from the Committee to the Monitoring Officer. There shall be no cross-examination by the subject member but they may request the Chairman to direct appropriate questions to the Monitoring Officer
  - (iii) The Monitoring Officer may introduce any witnesses required to substantiate any matter contained in the report that the complainant and

subject member have disputed, however if the matter is not included in their written statement the Monitoring Officer or Democratic and Elections Officer should draw this to the attention of the Committee. The Committee may then decide:

- not to admit the information but to proceed to a decision on the basis of the information contained in the report;
- to admit the dispute but invite the Monitoring Officer to respond or recall any necessary witnesses;
- or adjourn the meeting to enable the Monitoring Officer to investigate and report on the dispute.
- (iv) Committee's questions to the Monitoring Officer's witnesses. (There shall be no cross-examination by the subject member, but the subject member may request the Chairman of the Meeting to direct appropriate questions to the Witnesses).
- (v) Opportunity for the complainant or their representative to raise any issues with the report which they have disputed in their written submission. (The legal advisor shall ensure that the Committee are aware of any written submissions.)
- (vi) Committee's questions to the complainant. (There shall be no cross examination by the subject member, they will have the opportunity to raise any issues when they address the Committee).
- (vii) The complainant may introduce any witnesses required to substantiate any matter contained in the report that they have disputed.
- (viii) Committee's questions to the complainant's witnesses. (There shall be no cross-examination by the subject member, they will have the opportunity to raise any issues when they address the Committee).
- (ix) Presentation by the subject member or their representative. They should only raise any issues with the report which they have disputed in their written submission. (The legal advisor shall ensure that the Committee are aware of any written submissions.)
- (x) Committee's questions to the subject member.
- (xi) The subject member may introduce any witnesses required to substantiate any matter contained in the report that they have disputed.
- (xii) Committee's questions to the subject member's witnesses.
- (xiii) The Committee may at any time seek legal advice from its legal advisor.
- (xiv) Such advice will, on all occasions, be given in the presence of the subject member (or their representative) and complainant (or their representative).

# 10 Making a finding

- 10.1 Once all evidence has been presented by all parties, the Chairman will ask the Monitoring Officer whether there was any new matter raised during the course of meeting which was not addressed in the investigator's report or in the information submitted by the complainant or subject member disputing elements of the report. The Monitoring Officer will then have an opportunity to respond to any such new matter, or may request the Committee to adjourn to enable the Monitoring Officer to investigate and report on that new matter and/or to secure the attendance of witnesses as to the new matter.
- 10.2 If there is no adjournment, the Committee is required to come to a decision as to whether the subject member has breached the relevant Code of Conduct. The Committee need to be happy that they have sufficient information to make a decision. In the event that they require additional information they may question the Monitoring Officer, the subject member, complainant or any witness present in order to obtain sufficient information to enable the Committee to come to a decision on this issue.
- 10.3 The Committee will adjourn to a separate room where, in private, they will consider whether the subject member has acted in breach of the adopted Code of Conduct. If requested, an officer can retire with the panel to advise on matters of procedure and law, and any advice given must be conveyed back to the meeting publicly.
- 10.4 Once the Committee has come to a decision, the Committee will return and the Chairman will advise the complainant and the subject member their decision as to whether a breach of the Code of Conduct has occurred, and the reasons for that decision.
- 10.5 If the Committee come to the conclusion that the subject member has acted in breach of the Code of Conduct, the Committee will then hear representations from the Monitoring Officer and the subject member as to whether the Committee should take any action against the Councillor and what sanctions should be taken. Members of the Committee may ask questions of the Monitoring Officer and the subject member and seek legal advice in order to satisfy themselves that they have the information upon which to take a proper decision.
- 10.6 The Committee will then adjourn from the meeting to a separate room and will consider, in private, whether any action should be taken and what form of sanction should be taken. The Committee will then return to the meeting and the Chairman will report to the meeting the Committee's decision, the reasons for the decisions and sanctions imposed.

- 10.7 Sanctions that the Committee can impose include one or a combination of the following:
  - Report its findings in respect of the subject member's conduct to Council or the relevant Parish or Town Council;
  - Publish its findings in respect of the member's conduct;
  - Issue a formal censure (or recommend the Parish or Town Council issue a formal censure);
  - recommend to the subject member's group leader (or in the case of ungrouped councillors, recommend to Council) that they be removed from any or all Committees or sub-Committees of the authority (or recommend such action to the Parish or Town Council);
  - recommend to the Leader of the relevant authority that the subject member be removed from positions of responsibility;
  - instruct the Monitoring Officer to (or recommend that the Parish or Town Council) arrange training for the subject member;
  - recommend to Council (or to the Parish or Town Council) that the subject member be removed from all outside appointments to which they have been appointed or nominated by the authority (or by the Parish or Town Council);
  - recommend to Council (or to the Parish or Town Council) that it withdraws facilities provided to the subject member by the authority for a specified period, such as a computer, website and/or email and internet access; or
  - recommend to Council (or that the Parish or Town Council) that it excludes the subject member from the authority's offices or other premises for a specified period, with the exception of meeting rooms as necessary for attending Council, Committee and sub-Committee meetings and/or restricts contact with officers to named officers only;
  - if relevant, recommend to Council that the subject member be removed from their role as leader of the authority;
  - if relevant, recommend to the secretary or appropriate official of a political group that the Councillor be removed as group leader or other position of responsibility.
- 10.8 Note that where the subject member is a Parish/Town Councillor, the matter is referred back to their Council to say that a breach of the Code has been found and with a recommended sanction. The Parish/Town Council must then meet to consider whether to impose that sanction or to replace it with another relevant sanction. They cannot overturn the finding that there has been a breach of the Code and if they wish to impose a different sanction, they should seek advice from the clerk and/or the Monitoring Officer. The Standards Committee should also ask the Parish/Town Council to report back to the Monitoring Officer within three months to confirm that they have met to discuss the sanction, and if necessary, to write again once the sanction has been fulfilled.

Note that under the Code of Conduct, failure to comply with a sanction may itself be a breach of the Code.

# **11** Publicising the findings

- 11.1 As soon as possible after the Standards Committee has made its decision in respect of the complaint, the Monitoring Officer shall take reasonable steps to give written notice of the decision and the reasons for the decision to complainant, subject member, the Investigator, Independent Person and if appropriate the relevant Parish/Town Clerk. The decision notice should be published on the website of any authorities involved and anywhere else the Committee considers appropriate.
- 11.2 Where the Committee finds that the subject member did not breached the Code of Conduct the authority's Code of Conduct, the public summary must say this and give reasons for this finding.
- 11.3 Where the Committee finds that the subject member breached the Code of Conduct but determines that no action is needed, the notice should:
  - state that the subject member failed to follow the Code, but that no action needs to be taken;
  - outline what happened;
  - give reasons for the Committee's decision not to take any action.
- 11.4 Where the Committee finds that the subject member breached the Code of Conduct and a sanction is imposed, the notice should:
  - say that the subject member failed to follow the Code of Conduct;
  - outline what happened;
  - explain what sanction has been imposed;
  - give reasons for the decision made by the Standards Committee
- 11.5 The Committee's reports and minutes will be made available for public inspection in the same way as other committee papers are.

# 12 Appeals

12.1 There is no right of appeal for the complainant or the subject member against a decision of the Standards Committee.

